#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES HITCHCOCK,

Appellant,

Vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 82,350

### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
Criminal Justice Building
421 Third Street/6th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 355-7600

\* STEVEN H. MALONE Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 305545

GARY CALDWELL Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 256919

\* Counsel of Record

##

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

James Ernest Hitchcock appeals his death sentence for his conviction for first degree murder in the death of Cynthia Driggers.

- 1. Mr. Hitchcock was convicted of the murder in 1976, and sentenced to death in January 1977. This Court affirmed in Hitchcock v. State, 413 So. 2d 741 (Fla. 1982). He promptly pursued his challenges in unbroken litigation in the state and federal courts until the Supreme Court found "it could not be clearer" that the penalty phase violated the eighth amendment. Hitchcock v. Dugger, 481 U.S. 393, 107 S.Ct. 1821, 95 L.Ed.2d 262 (1987). He was retried, but that penalty phase too was constitutionally deficient. Hitchcock v. State, 614 So. 2d 483 (1993). This case arises from a death sentence imposed after the 1993 reversal.
- 2. The state's case below was that Mr. Hitchcock committed a sexual battery on his 13-year-old cousin Cynthia Driggers and then strangled her when she threatened to tell her mother. The state called three witnesses in its case in chief.

The medical examiner testified that Ms. Driggers died of asphyxiation caused by strangulation. T 341. She had suffered blows to the face shortly before her death, T 333, and the irregularity of neck abrasions showed that there had been a struggle. T 335. Death by asphyxiation would take 4-5 minutes, or longer in the event of a struggle. T 337-38. She had had sexual intercourse within minutes or hours before her death; before that she had been a virgin. T 340-41.

The main evidence linking Mr. Hitchcock to the crime was a taped statement to Detective Dan Nazarchuk. T 373. According to the statement, he came home about 2:30 a.m. on July 4, 1976, went to Cynthia's room and had sex with her. She said she was hurt, and would

tell her mama, and he told her she couldn't. When she began hollering, he grabbed her neck and took her outside with his hand over her mouth. They lay on the grass, and he told her she couldn't tell her mother, but she said he had hurt her and had just hurt her again. When she began to scream, he grabbed her throat and choked her and hit her twice in the face. When she kept hollering, he kept choking her. When there were no signs of life he pushed her into the bushes. He then went inside, took a shower, washed his shirt and lay down. Supp. R. 2-7.

The third witness was D L D: , the younger sister of the deceased. Her testimony on direct was that her sister told her that she and Mr. Hitchcock were doing sexual things against her will, but had not had intercourse, and that she was afraid of him. T 386-87. D told Mr. Hitchcock that if he did not stop, she would tell her mother, and he replied that he would kill both girls. T 387. D wanted to tell their mother, but Cynthia begged her not to. T 388. The night before Cindy's death, L begged her to tell the mother because "it was too much, it was too long". T 388. Cynthia wouldn't let her tell. T 388-89.

The defense crossed Ms. D about her not having told anyone about these conversations until 17 years after her sister's death. T 390-92. On redirect, she testified that she had told no one as she feared Mr. Hitchcock because he had also sexually assaulted her. T 393-95. The court overruled defense objection that the evidence was irrelevant. T 393. Redirect included charges that Mr. Hitchcock had committed specific acts of sexual abuse on her and her sister Cynthia:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> D did not testify to these conversations at the original trial or at the 1988 resentencing.

#### BY MR. ASHTON:

- Q. Tell us what Ernie did to you.
- A. Well, my sister Cindy went into the hospital to have her eye fixed because it was crossed. When we were at home, my two brothers and me were at home and we were cleaning the house getting ready for her to come home with my parents. And R and B. were there in their bedroom cleaning up their room, and they had a door that led outside.

Ernie locked the front door and locked them in there [sic] bedroom because it could lock from the outside, and I didn't know that he was in there. And I was cleaning up my mom's room, and he came in there and threw me on the bed and just said, come on, I , let me touch you, and I kept telling him no. And so he got his hands in my pants, and I kept pushing him away.

So R and B. were already outside, and they couldn't get in because the front door was locked. So I got away from him and went outside, and we had this pole that was outside, and I climbed up there and stayed there until mama came home.

- Q. Did that also frighten you?
- A. Yes.
- Q. How old were you then?
- A. I guess 11 or 12.
- Q. Had the stories that Cindy told you about what Ernie did to her been similar kinds of things?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Did those make you afraid of Ernie as a 12-year-old?
- A. Yes.
- Q. When Ernie told you that he would kill you and kill Cindy if you told your mom, did that scare you?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And when you saw your sister dead in the bushes, did that scare you?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Is that why you didn't tell the police?
- A. That's why.
- Q. When is the first time that you told anyone outside your family about this?

A. When I told you.

MR. ASHTON: Nothing further. T 394-95.

The parties agreed that at the time of the murder appellant was on parole for Arkansas burglary and larceny convictions. T 358-59.

3. The defense presented unrebutted evidence about Mr. Hitch-cock's background and his life on death row, as well as expert evidence pertaining to his ability to conform to prison life.

Martha Galloway, his sister, testified that he and his six brothers and sisters were raised in a three room house without indoor plumbing. T 411. Their father died of skin cancer when Ernie was six. T 410. They cut wood for heat and used cardboard for insulation. T 412. The children chopped and picked cotton. T 413. Their mother was epileptic and Ernie was terribly afraid of her seizures. T 413. He left the home around age 10 when his mother married a very abusive drunkard who did not want children around; he grew up moving from relative to relative with no real home. T 414-15.

His older brother, James Harold ("Sonny"), gave similar testimony and testified that at age 7 Ernie worked at James' gas station from 7 a.m. until 9 p.m., pumping gas. T 465-66. At age 13, Ernie picked fruit for James in Winter Garden. T 457. Ernie's cousin, Wayne, who was raised with him, testified that when he was 17 or 18, Ernie saved Wayne's father from drowning. T 480, 484-85. Ernie took care of Sonny's wife, Fay, and children when Fay was sick in Florida. T 481-83. Ernie worked hard as a fruit picker. T 486.

Another sister, Betty Augustine, testified that Ernie began picking and chopping cotton at age 9. T 570. They earned \$3 for a day's work of 10-12. T 571. After her husband suffered brain damage

as a result of a tractor turning over on him, Ernie came and helped her with her children. T 572. At that time he was only old enough to pick pecans or chop a little cotton. T 573.

Lorine Galloway, Mr. Hitchcock's mother, testified that Ernie's father died when Ernie was 7. T 427. She then married Ed Galloway, an abusive drinker, and Ernie left home, hitchhiking 100 miles away to his grandmother's home in Mississippi. T 628-29.

Ruby Hitchcock (Sonny's daughter and Ernie's niece) testified that she corresponds regularly with her uncle and he has helped her with family problems. T 455-59. Lisa McAbee, another niece and the daughter of Betty Augustine, gave similar testimony. T 578-80.

Richard Greene, an attorney who represented Mr. Hitchcock from 1978 to 1988, testified that when he first met him 1978 his verbal skills were extremely limited. T 431. In 1980, Mr. Hitchcock began an educational program and tremendously improved his verbal abilities and understanding of the world. Id. Since condemned inmates lack access to classrooms, they obtain education only by writing to the educational supervisor, getting books, and studying on their own: "It's completely self-initiated, self-driven." T 434. After obtaining his GED, he took college courses. T 435. "His verbal abilities improved, his interests widened tremendously, he became more interested in things around him, people around him; he developed more empathy and compassion for other people, his interests in the world became greater." T 435-36. Over time, he has shown "more maturity, more self-understanding, and self-awareness. I would say he's a calmer, more patient person; he's more concerned and tolerant of others, and has more of an understanding of their needs and the importance of their needs ...". T 436-37. Death row inmates James Morgan and Charles

Foster testified to Mr. Hitchcock's creditable behavior on death row: he helped Mr. Morgan to learn to read and write, T 584-85, and persuaded Mr. Foster not to kill a man and not to attack the man who delivered mail to inmates. T 588-89, 590-91.

Dr. Elizabeth McMahon, a psychologist, examined Mr. Hitchcock in 1983 (for six hours), 1988 (for two hours), and 1993 (for three hours). T 497-8, 500. The 1983 examination revealed a man of average intelligence, highly anxious and full of inner turmoil, which he dealt with by avoidance. His emotional tone was dampened and very distant; he had a lot of unmet needs for affection. He would try to get close to people, but did not know how, which raised his anxiety. T 501. If he could not distance himself, he became more disorganized. He was becoming more mature, less reactive. He was learning to speak better and handle things by communicating. T 502. In 1988, his responses were more solid: he dealt with problems better. T 503. By 1993, he was much more able to confront emotional issues. <u>Id</u>. Over the years he has developed more mature coping mechanisms by reading, looking at educational television, and writing to people. T 506-507. He has an observable degree of empathy, concern and compassion, especially for those in discomfort. T 511. His emotional responses are better modulated; his responses are very well thought out. T 512.

Much of the state cross of Dr. McMahon concerned Mr. Hitchcock's sexual history, a matter not raised on direct. The court overruled relevancy objections to questioning about pornography, T 528 (Dr. McMahon did not ask Mr. Hitchcock about pornography because she did not think it relevant), and to questioning as to whether Dr. McMahon had specific training in treating sexual abusers. T 541-42 (she did not).

The state crossed her about pedophilia, suggesting she should have evaluated or diagnosed Mr. Hitchcock as a sexual abuser.<sup>2</sup> The pedophile questioning saturated the rest of the trial. From the beginning of cross the state asked if she had "take[n] a sexual history from Mr. Hitchcock?" T 515. The subject on cross did not deviate from child sexual abuse: she was asked Mr. Hitchcock's age at his first sexual experience, whether he had been sexually abused, "what type of women he found appealing, physical attributes;" and whether she had "ever question[ed] him as far as his sexual fantasies?" T 516.

The state asked: "Could pedophilia be one of [Mr. Hitchcock's] dynamics?" T 523. Though she said no, the state continued pressed on. T 523-5273. Among the continued pedophilia and sex offender profile questions asked of Dr. McMahon: "Did you discuss with him the issue of pornography"?4 "So the fact that this was the -- at the very least, a sexual act with a 13-year-old girl, you didn't think it was helpful to delve into his preferences in pornography?" "Isn't that one factor that you look to in determining pedophilia?" T 529.

The state posed questions whether Mr. Hitchcock had been sexually abused, T 529-30, about the expert's experience treating and writing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Early in her cross testimony she said she did *not* find Mr. Hitchcock's sexual history to be particularly important to her evaluation, T 517, and that even if it were true that he had first raped the decedent, that fact was not relevant to her opinion. T 523. But questioning continued as the she explained a pedophilia evaluation was not relevant to her inquiry because her evaluation had nothing to do with his behavior at the time of the crime. T 530-31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Here's a sampling: "How much time did you spend talking about his sexual behavior and fantasies?" T 526; "Can you tell the jury how much time you spent with these sexual issues?" T 526 (objection overruled); "Now, there are sexual inventories that are accepted to give to people similar to the MMPI to determine sexual attitudes; isn't that correct? ... "And you could have given Mr. Hitchcock one of those sexual inventories and chose not to?" T 527.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Relevance objection was overruled. T 528.

about "sexual abusers" T 530, and seeking to show Mr. Hitchcock was a child molester. T 530-31.

In Dr. McMahon's cross, the state implied Mr. Hitchcock could never be cured of his "pedophilia" in prison, and debated with her whether he was a "power-prone pedophile" or "cruelty pedophile," and whether such a condition could ever change. T 531-35. The state suggested to her (she did not agree) that because of the facts of the case the "power-prone pedophile" label fit Mr. Hitchcock. T 535.

The state turned the issue to Mr. Hitchcock's future behavior in prison. T 538<sup>5</sup>. Cross continued with numerous questions about the experience of the doctor in "treating sexual abusers", T 544, that she did not cover the sexual part of Mr. Hitchcock's dynamics sufficiently, T 544-547, and to finish, whether he had violence in his sexual history, and whether he had engaged in homosexual behavior as an adult or child. T 552-553<sup>6</sup>.

On redirect, Dr. McMahon testified that Mr. Hitchcock would get along quite well in a general prison population, T 553, and she did not see evidence that he was a pedophile. T 553-54.

Dr. Michael Radelet, a sociology professor, testified that, if spared the death penalty, Mr. Hitchcock had an extremely high potential of making a satisfactory contribution to the community in prison. T 605-606. He based his conclusion on the basis of these criteria: the degree of premeditation; prior history, if any, of violent crimes;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> When the state turned the cross back to her training in "treating sexual abusers", objection was overruled with the judge's comment that the prosecutor had "belabored the point". T 542.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The state argued in closing that Dr. McMahon's responses to his cross meant "it didn't matter to [Dr. McMahon] whether this child was raped or not", T 812, and that "she didn't do a complete sex abuser analysis because it wouldn't have helped". T 812-813.

relationship between defendant and victim; the defendant's family or community ties; history of mental hospitalization, if any; age at time of crime; the defendant's education and efforts to improve himself; and history of violence, if any, including while in incarceration. T 604-605.

The state's rebuttal case' consisted largely of the testimony of Steven Jordan, a psychologist, who testified over objection that Mr. Hitchcock is a pedophile, with the caveat that "my diagnosis has to be suggestive and not necessarily definitive, but the evidence very strongly points in the direction of pedophilia." T 682-83. Also over relevance objection, he testified that there are two main types of pedophiles (fixated, and regressive) and that Mr. Hitchcock has characteristics of both. T 683-84.

Over objection that such testimony was speculative he said Mr. Hitchcock fit into what is "according to research" a small minority (15%) of pedophiles who are violent, T 685-6, and do it either for sexual sadism or domination and control; he could not say "which of those two categories" fit Mr. Hitchcock, T 687, but did testify that the sexual sadism category is "associated with anti-personality disorders and is frequently associated with assault or even murderous behavior". T 686-87.

He testified over objection that, as a pedophile, Mr. Hitchcock would be dangerous in the future, T 687, since, in his view, pedophiles generally could not be "spontaneously" cured. He reasoned over objection, T 692, that, as a pedophile, Mr. Hitchcock would sexually

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The state's case in chief, including opening statement, took less than three hours. R 450. Its rebuttal case was nearly as long, consuming two and a half hours. R 453. The testimony rebutted at most two minutes of defense testimony.

prey on younger inmates, T 689-91, and that there was a "correlation between rape and pedophilia.": "The analysis of four hundred rapists indicated that 50.7 percent were pedophiles". T 692.8

Over defense objection that the testimony was nonstatutory aggravation and hearsay, T 663-669, he related details of L ' report to him that Mr. Hitchcock had sexually abused her and Cynthia. He interviewed Ms. D in five one-hour sessions. His recitation of what L told him went far beyond her testimony to the jury. He said L told him Mr. Hitchcock "always tried to put his hands in my pants, at least every other day, sometimes more than once a day, "that "He was mean and rough, he didn't just lay on me --," "He was just so mean. He would slap me across the face. It happened to Cindy. It would be a ritual." Letold him Cindy told her that "He never raped Cindy before; he would put his fingers in her, and on her butt. She was so scared of him." Lotold him: night I said we got to tell. After, Cindy was crying and begging me not to tell. She said please don't tell. Ernie ever -- "Id.

He related a story about Mr. Hitchcock locking her brothers out of the house and putting his hands in her pants, trying "to put his

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> In closing argument the state expanded this theme, arguing over repeated objection that Mr. Hitchcock is a "violent pedophile" with "a small likelihood of being cured," and that the jury "could not possibly be reasonably convinced" "that if this man is released into the general population" or "that if this man is paroled, sometime after twenty-five years, he will not be dangerous in the future." T 816-817.

 $<sup>^9</sup>$  At the start of his testimony about L\_ D  $_{\odot}$  , the defense objected that such testimony was irrelevant, was non-statutory aggravation, and that "if he's going to start testifying about whether or not she was a victim of child abuse", Mr. Hitchcock had not been convicted of such a crime. T 663-664. The state argued the defense had implied recent fabrication by Ms. D  $_{\odot}$  , and the court overruled the objection on that basis. T 664-665. The defense also objected to testimony that Mr. Hitchcock was a sexual abuser, which was also overruled. T 665-666.

thing in my butt", putting his fingers in her, and her going up a pole outside where he could not reach her. She related to him how when she told Mr. Hitchcock she was going to tell her mama, he said he would kill both her and Cindy. T 668-674.

He interviewed R D , L and Cindy's brother, in two one-hour sessions. T 676. Over relevancy objection, he said it was hard for R to talk -- he was very reluctant, and going through emotional difficulty. However, "he got to the point where he was able to say that Ernie had sexually abused him, but nothing more than that" and "he was not able to give me details of what happened". T 676-677.

Details of alleged sexual abuse of R | M | first came out during the doctor's testimony about what L | D: | told him. He there testified over objection that he spoke with L | D | about her cousin (Mr. M | ), and later with the cousin, and "His cousin told me that Ernie made him go down on him, and said if he told he would break his neck". T 673-74.

The expert said he interviewed Mr. M personally the day before "in the corridors of the courtroom" and that M told him he was "fourteen of fifteen when [he] first met Ernie", that he "didn't like him" and "was scared of him". He related that Mr. M said that Mr. Hitchcock was "mean to R and R . He was slapping them on the head, calling them stupid." He told a hearsay story about a 4th of July picnic when Mr. Hitchcock "smashed the ball on R who was lying down. It hurt him."

Dr. Jordan testified about an explicit story from Mr. M that on the night of the 4th of July picnic Mr. Hitchcock forced him to begin to perform oral sex, and threatened to anally rape him (though the doctor also testified M was "a little unclear" whether the

anal rape had been stated). The doctor related M  $$^{\prime\prime}$$  told him "I know more happened with R  $$^{\prime\prime}$$  and B  $$^{\prime\prime}$$  T 680-81.

When Mr. M testified (in the midst of Dr. Jordan's testimony), the state asked him only ""Did you relate some incident that occurred in 1976 involving yourself and Ernie Hitchcock?' 'Yes, I did.', and 'Were those incidents true?' 'Yes, sir.'" T 695. Mr. M is a deputy sheriff and a corrections officer now. T 694.

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