IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

SEP 13 1995

JAMES EARNEST HITCHCOCK,

Appellant,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By

v.

CASE NO. 82,350

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FL. BAR. #0998818 444 Seabreeze Boulevard Fifth Floor Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Hitchcock's claim that the state presented improper mental state evidence is incorrect. Hitchcock opened the door to rebuttal testimony by the state's expert because, in the course of cross-examination of a state witness, he charged that the testimony of that witness was recently fabricated. The state was entitled, on redirect examination, to present testimony that explained the testimony given on cross-examination. Hitchcock's complaint about the state's cross-examination of the defense psychologist is not preserved for review by timely objection, and, even if this claim was preserved, none of the cross-examination of that witness was improper, anyway.

The state's mental state witness did not testify based upon a "pedophilia profile", but rather testified concerning the diagnostic criteria for a diagnosis of pedophilia under the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual, Third Edition-Revised. Those diagnostic criteria are accepted by the mental health community as the proper standards for reaching a diagnosis of pedophilia, and it makes no sense to suggest that those criteria may not be presented to the jury.

No improper hearsay was contained within the testimony of the state's expert witness. That testimony was proper in rebuttal of the defense expert's testimony, and because the testimony was already before the jury, anyway. Hitchcock's claim that the state improperly bolstered the testimony of various witnesses is not preserved for review because Hitchcock did not raise a timely objection. Moreover, even if the claim had been preserved for review, the complained-of testimony was a proper subject for redirect examination because of Hitchcock's charge of recent fabrication of testimony.

Hitchcock's claim that the state's rebuttal evidence became a feature of the trial is without a factual basis. All of the evidence complained about by Hitchcock was proper rebuttal of the defendant's case-in-chief. Moreover, the nature of the defense theory opened the door to rebuttal of Hitchcock's claim of non-violence.

Hitchcock's claim that he is entitled to receive a life sentence because of a violation of his speedy trial rights has no legal or factual basis. It has long been the law that the speedy trial clause is inapplicable to appellate proceedings. There is no constitutional basis for this claim, and it is foreclosed by binding precedent.

Hitchcock's claim that he was prevented from presenting mitigation evidence is essentially the same claim that was raised on Hitchcock's last appeal and decided adversely to him. The trial court's ruling concerning the admissibility of the "mitigation" evidence was in accord with the prior decision of this court in this case, and the trial court should not be placed in error for relying on such precedent.

Hitchcock raises sixteen separately denominated claims of error in connection with the penalty phase jury instructions. Each claimed instance of error is foreclosed by the prior decisions of this court.

Hitchcock's claims of prosecutorial misconduct were not preserved for review by timely objection, and, even if they were preserved, the arguments were not improper.

To the extent that Hitchcock complains about the jury instruction concerning parole eligibility, which was given in response to a question from the jury, that claim is foreclosed by binding precedent and, even if it was not, it would not make sense to refuse to inform the jury of the full impact of their advisory recommendation. Hitchcock had argued that he would spend the rest of his life in prison and that he would not be a danger in the future. Hitchcock created this issue, and should not be heard to complain.

Hitchcock claims that the "murder during an enumerated felony" aggravating circumstance is unconstitutional on its face and as applied. That claim is not preserved for review by proper objection, and, even had it been preserved, Hitchcock would not be entitled to relief because that claim is foreclosed by binding precedent.

Hitchcock's argument concerning the "under sentence of imprisonment" aggravating circumstance is preserved for review only so far as the double jeopardy and due process components are concerned. This claim is foreclosed by binding precedent and, moreover, is indistinguishable from a claim decided adversely to

Hitchcock in his prior appeal. Likewise, Hitchcock's claim that "consent component" of the sexual battery aggravating circumstance is not addressed by the sentencing order is rebutted by the facts. The related claim that the sex battery aggravating circumstance should not be applied retroactively is not preserved for review, and, even if not procedurally barred, the claim is foreclosed by binding precedent. To the extent that Hitchcock claims that "an actual, subjective awareness of an impending arrest" is required to establish the avoiding arrest aggravating circumstance, this claim was raised in Hitchcock's prior direct appeal, and was squarely rejected by this court. Likewise, Hitchcock's heinous, atrocious, claim that the oraggravating circumstance should not apply to him because he did not "intend" to cause unnecessary pain is foreclosed by binding precedent.

Hitchcock's claim concerning the "reason for resentencing" jury instruction is not a basis for relief because the claim contained in Hitchcock's brief was not preserved by timely objection at trial, and because it is based upon a linguistic exercise that is not supported by the definition of the terms about which Hitchcock complains.

Hitchcock's claim that the lower court erred in denying his motion for a mistrial based upon the fact that the victim's sister wore a yellow lapel ribbon is meritless. The lower court did not abuse its discretion in denying Hitchcock's motion for a mistrial, and, in any event, there was no public pressure placed upon the jury by the wearing of a yellow ribbon, and Hitchcock is not entitled to relief on this claim.

Hitchcock's claim that death is disproportionate under the facts of this case is without merit. None of the aggravating circumstances found by the sentencing court should be stricken by this court because each aggravating circumstance is well supported by the record. The lower court's weighing of the aggravators and mitigators was proper, and the sentence of death should be affirmed. None of the cases relied upon by Hitchcock to support his claim of disproportionality is applicable to this case. Death is the appropriate sentence in this case.

ARGUMENT

I. THE STATE DID NOT PRESENT IMPROPER MENTAL STATE EVIDENCE

On pp. 16-44 of this brief, Hitchcock raises multiple complaints about the admission of various parts of the state's rebuttal case. None of Hitchcock's claims amount to error and, in fact, most of the claims contained in Hitchcock's brief are based upon either an inaccurate factual premise or upon an overreading of the testimony. The individual components of this claim are addressed below.

A. Hitchcock Opened The Door To Testimony About Other Acts Of Sexual Abuse

As Hitchcock points out in his brief, D L D testified that Cynthia (her sister) told her that Hitchcock had sexually abused her and that Cynthia did not want to tell their mother, nor did she want D I to tell their mother. (TR 386-389). 11 However, what Hitchcock refuses to recognize is that

If note 13 is an attempt to present an issue concerning the state's opening argument, it is insufficient for that purpose. In any event, Hitchcock's objection was sustained. $(TR\ 322)$.

the cross-examination of D L D was a direct and unconcealed charge of recent fabrication of testimony that began first question and continued throughout crosswith the See, e.g., TR 390-92. 12 Florida law is settled that examination. redirect testimony is proper when that testimony "tends to qualify, explain, or limit cross-examination testimony". See, e.g., Tompkins v. State, 502 So. 2d 415, 419 (Fla. 1986); See also, Johnston v. State, 497 So. 2d 863, 869 (Fla. 1986); Huff v. State, 495 So. 2d 145 (Fla. 1983). It is disingenuous in the extreme to claim that the redirect testimony elicited from D Driggers did not "qualify, explain, or limit" the testimony elicited during the defendant's cross-examination of her. testimony on redirect was in direct response to explanation of the answers given on cross-examination. than being a "state-concocted" theory to present that testimony, Hitchcock invited the redirect testimony, and should not now be heard to complain. 13 The state was entitled to explain the delay in D 'reporting of abuse, and, regardless of Hitchcock's semantic exercise, the timeliness aspect was clearly addressed at length during cross-examination. The state was

To the extent that Hitchcock complains, in note 14, that he was "caught off guard" by this testimony because he did not invoke discovery, that complaint is spurious.

entitled to place the true explanation before the jury, and there was no error. Hitchcock's sentence should be affirmed.

The delay in disclosure of sexual abuse by the victim is referred to as the "child sexual abuse accommodation syndrome." See, e.g., Jones v. State, 690 So. 2d 1084, 1090 (Fla. 1994) (Kogan, J., concurring). As Justice Kogan stated, sexually abused children often do not disclose "their victimization for long periods of time" because they "are afraid, have been threatened, lack the vocabulary to even describe what has happened or are simply too ashamed to tell anyone." Id. These various behavioral correlates to sexual abuse are not disputed by Hitchcock. In changing recent fabrication by his victims, Hitchcock opened the door for the state to explain the delayed disclosure.

Insofar as Hitchcock's male victims are concerned, it has been established that male children often do not report sexual abuse because they often regard themselves as being guilty of what happened and "cannot concede that they were victims who had lost control of a disturbing situation...". Id. There was no error in allowing an explanation of the delayed disclosure to be presented to the jury.

B. The State's Cross-Examination Of The Defense Mental Expert Was Proper

On pp. 21-25 of his brief, Hitchcock argues that the state improperly cross-examined the defense psychologist concerning pedophilia and child sexual abuse. This argument does not establish grounds for reversal for two independently adequate reasons.

First, Hitchcock did not object at trial to any of the state's questions about pedophilia or sexual abuse. In fact, Hitchcock only objected five times during the state's cross-examination of his handpicked psychologist. Two of those objections were that the question had been asked and answered (TR 521; 526); two were based upon relevance (TR 528; 541); and one was a claim that the question posed by the Assistant State Attorney misstated the law (TR 538). Only the two relevance objections warrant any discussion.

The first relevance objection was to the Assistant State Attorney's question as to why the defense expert did not discuss pornography with the defendant. As the record demonstrates, the objection was only to the expert's explanation of his examination, not to the issue of whether or not she did in fact inquire into Hitchcock's experiences with pornography. The objection is wholly insufficient to preserve the issue contained in Hitchcock's brief. The second relevance objection came after the following question: "What training do you have specifically in treating sexual abusers?" (TR 541). That objection is likewise wholly inadequate to preserve the issue contained in Hitchcock's brief. Any assertion to the contrary is disingenuous; neither

The pertinent questions and answers read as follows:

Q: Did you discuss with him the issue of pornography?

A: No.

Q: Why Not? [Defense Attorney]: Objection. Relevance. The court: overruled.

A. I didn't think it was relevant, again, to the assessment having to do with the issue of the homicide itself.

relevance objection, even if taken out of context, tangentially purports to object to cross-examination concerning pedophilia and child sexual abuse. Both questions by the Assistant State Attorney were entirely proper, and the defense relevance objections were properly overruled. Florida law is clear that a timely objection at trial is required to preserve an issue for appellate review. Hitchcock did not object to the testimony about which he now complains, and thereby failed to preserve the issues for review. Steinhorst v. State, 636 So. 2d 33 (Fla. 1994).

Although the foregoing procedural bars are adequate and independent grounds for disposition of this claim, and this issue should be decided on that basis, none of the cross-examination about which Hitchcock complains is improper, anyway. Florida law is settled that cross-examination into matters affecting the credibility of the witness is entirely proper. See, e.g., Shere v. State, 579 So. 2d 86, 90-91 (Fla. 1991); see also, Coxwell v. State, 361 So. 2d 148, 151 (Fla. 1978); Fla. Stat., § 90.612 Second, all of the cross-examination about which Hitchcock now complains was proper because it inquired into the accuracy of the opinions and conclusions that were the subject of the defendant's mental state expert's direct testimony. Put another way, the state's crossexamination was proper impeachment. The propriety of the crossexamination is readily apparent when the record is fairly considered. Hitchcock's expert testified that there was (in her opinion) no evidence of pedophilia; described her evaluation of that aspect of Hitchcock's behavior in detail; and testified as

to the general "profile" of a pedophile. (TR 524). 15 Moreover, Hitchcock's expert testified that he did not fit the "profile" of a pedophile. (TR 524; 535).

Obviously, the state is entitled to inquire into the basis of the expert's opinions, and, just as obviously, the state is entitled to challenge the credibility of those opinions. The state's cross-examination was not improper, and, given the defense expert's absolute refusal to recognize the sexual overtones present in this crime, was legitimate impeachment of that witness. (See, e.g., TR 527; 528; 523). Hitchcock should not be heard to complain, and the sentence should not be disturbed.

C. The claimed "Pedophilia Profile" Testimony

On pp. 25-33 of his brief, Hitchcock argues various claims concerning the testimony of the state's mental state expert. Each of those claims is predicated upon the premise that the state's witness testified based upon a "pedophilia profile". This claim collapses when its basis is examined.

The testimony that Hitchcock portrays as "profile" testimony is a far cry from that before the court in Flannigan v. State, 625 So. 2d 827 (Fla. 1993). In this case, rather than presenting testimony about characteristics of abusers, the state presented testimony detailing the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Third Edition-Revised (hereinafter DSM III-R) diagnostic

The "profile testimony" on cross-examination was non-responsive, but Hitchcock cannot complain about that volunteered answer.

criteria. The $DSM\ III-R$ enumerates the following diagnostic criteria for pedophilia:

- 1. Over a period of at least six months, recurrent intense sexual urges and sexually arousing fantasies involving sexual activity with a prepubescent child or children (generally aged 13 or younger).
- 2. The person has acted on these urges, or is markedly distressed by them.
- 3. The person is at least 16 years old and at least 5 years older than the child or children in 1. DMS III-R at 285.

Those criteria, unlike the testimony at issue in Flannigan and Turtle v. State, 600 So. 2d 1214 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), are accepted within the mental health community as the appropriate criteria for a diagnosis of pedophilia. 16 The state's expert testified that Hitchcock fit the diagnostic criteria with the exception of one of the criteria that he "could not comment on" (TR 682). 17 Testimony that Hitchcock is properly diagnosed as a pedophile under the prevailing criteria established by (and accepted by) the mental health community is drastically different from the testimony disallowed in Flannigan. Moreover, unlike Flannigan and Turtle, the pedophilia testimony in this case came in rebuttal to Hitchcock's own expert testimony that he is not a pedophile. (TR 523-4). Contrary to Hitchcock's claim, the rebuttal testimony was

Hitchcock accepts the *DSM* criteria as proper on p. 31 of his brief. The acceptance of the diagnostic criteria set out in the *DSM III-R* is inconsistent with the rest of his position espoused in his brief.

That criteria is the one denominated "1". Obviously, because the state's expert did not have the opportunity to evaluate Hitchcock personally, that particular criteria could not be addressed.

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